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I N  THE SUPREME COURT OF JUDICATURE OF JAMAICA 

I N  COMMON LAW 

SUIT NO. T-068 OF 1998 

BETWEEN 

A N D  

A N D  

THERMO PLASTICS ( J A  - ) 
LIMITED ( I n  R e c e i v e r s h i p )  

JEAN-MARIE DESLUME 

WASHINGTON TRUST LTD. 

/ "' 
/ PLAINTIFF 

FIRST DEFENDANT 

SECOND DEFENDANT '. 
M r .  Michael  Hylton Q . C . ,  and M i s s  H i l a r y  Reid f o r  P l a i n t i f f .  

M r .  Donald Scharschmid t  Q . C . ,  and Anthony Levy f o r  F i r s t  Defendan t .  

, Miss Debra Newland f o r  Second Defendant .  

HEARD: 1 6 t h  and 1 7 t h  J u n e ,  1999 
I 

F.A. SMITH, J, 

By N o t i c e  o f  Motion d a t e d  28th  May, 1998 t h e  p l a i n t i f f  s e e k s  

(- 'r judgment i n  d e f a u l t  o r  i n  t h e  a l t e r n a t i v e  summary judgment a g a i n s t  

L. 
t h e  Defendants  p u r s u a n t  t o  S e c t i o n  7 9 ( 1 )  of  t h e  C i v i l  P rocedure  

Code Law. 

The judgment s o u g h t  a s  p e r  t h e  Minute o f  Judgment a t t a c h e d  
I , 

t o  t h e  Notice i s  a s  f o l l o w s :  

1. A g a i n s t  t h e  F i r s t  and Second Defendants  f o r :  

I 

A D e c l a r a t i o n  t h a t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  i s  t h e  b e n e f i c i a l  owner o f  

o f  p r o p e r t i e s  known a s  8 Upper Carmel Way and b e i n g  t h e  l a n d  

comprised i n  C e r t i f i c a t e s  o f  T i t l e  r e g i s t e r e d  a t  Volume 1188 

F o l i o  20  and Volume 1193 F o l i o  6 0 0  o f  t h e  R e g i s t e r  Book o f  

T i t l e s .  
I 

2 .  A g a i n s t  t h e  F i r s t  Defendant  f o r :  

( a )  The sums o f  $11,386,340,  $1 ,765,750 and $245,360 a s  

moneys bad and r e c e i v e d  and damages t o  b e  a s s e s s e d .  

(b )  An a c c o u n t  i n  r e s p e c t  of  any p r o f i t  d e r i v e d  d i r e c t l y  

o r  i n d i r e c t l y  a s  a r e s u l t  o f  h i s  b r e a c h  of  f i d u c i a r y  

d u t y .  

( c )  An o r d e r  t h a t  w i t h i n  f o u r t e e n  ( 1 4 )  d a y s  o f  b e i n g  

r e q u e s t e d  t o  do  s o ,  t h e  F i r s t  Defendant  do e x e c u t e  

a t r a n s f e r  o f  t h e  s a i d  p r o p e r t i e s  t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

or t o  i t s  o r d e r .  



*. 
I 

( d  An o r d e r  t h a t  t h e  R e g i s t r a r  o f  t h e  Supreme C o u r t  

I do  e x e c u t e  t h e  s a i d  t r a n s f e r  i f  t h e  F i r s t  Defen- 

d a n t  f a i l s  t o  d o  s o .  
I 

(e  An o r d e r  t h a t  t h e  F i r s t  Defendn t  pay  t h e  c o s t s  o f  

t r a n s f e r r i n g  t h e  s a i d  p r o p e r t i e s .  

(£1 An o r d e r  t h a t  t h e  F i r s t  Defendan t  f o r t h w i t h  d e l i v e r  

u p ~ p o s s e s s i o n  o f  t h e  s a i d  p r o p e r t i e s  t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  

(9) I n t e r e s t  p u r s u a n t  t o  t h e  Law Reform ( M i s c e l l a n e o u s  

P r o v i s i o n s )  A c t .  

( h )  C o s t s  t o  b e  t a x e d  o r  a g r e e d .  

The W r i t  o f  summons d a t e d  2 7 t h  A p r i l ,  1 9 9 8  was accompanied by 

; a S t a t e m e n t  o f  Claim.  I n  i t s  S t a t e m e n t  o f  Claim t h e  p l a i n t i f f  a v e r s :  

1. The P l a i n t i f f ,  i s  a  company i n c o r p o r a t e d  u n d e r  t h e  Companies 

A c t .  On March 1, 1 9 9 8 ,  M r .  ~ i c h a r d  Downer was a p p o i n t e d  

R e c e i v e r  and  Manager o f  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  p u r s u a n t  t o  a  Deben tu re  

C t  d a t e  t h e  1 9 t h  J u l y ,  1 9 9 7 .  

i 2. The F i r s t  Defendant  was a t  a l l  m a t e r i a l  t i m e s  a  d i r e c t o r  

and  employee o f  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  and r e c e i v e d  a  s a l a r y  f o r  h i s  

s e r v i c e s  as P r e s i d e n t  o f  t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  
I 
I I 

, 3.  The Second Defendant  i s  a company i n c o r p o r a t e d  u n d e r  t h e  
1 

Companies A c t .  

4 .  The F i r s t  Defendan t  owed a f i d u c i a r y  d u t y  t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

i n c l u d i n g  b u t  n o t  l i m i t e d  t o  a  d u t y  t o :  
I 

( a )  a c t  i n  i t s  b e s t  i n t e r e s t ;  

I ( b )  a c t  i n  good f a i t h ;  

n o t  e n t e r  i n t o  c o n t r a c t s  a n d / o r  ag reemen t s  which 

were n o t  i n  i t s  b e s t  i n t e r e s t s ;  

e x e r c i s e  h i s  powers a s  d i r e c t o r  f o r  p r o p e r  p u r p o s e s  

o n l y ;  

n o t  m i s u s e  t h e  P l a i n t i f f ' s  a s s e t s ;  

n o t  p l a c e  h i m s e l f  i n  a p o s i t i o n  where t h e r e  would,  

o r  a l t e r n a t i v e l y  c o u l d  be  a  c o n f l i c t  o f  i n t e r e s t  

between h i s  d u t y  t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  and h i s  p e r s o n a l  

i n t e r e s t s ;  

e n s u r e  t h a t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  c a r r i e d  on i t s  b u s i n e s s  i n  

a c c o r d a n c e  w i t h  i t s  A r t i c l e s  of  A s s o c i a t i o n  and  t h e  

Companies A c t .  



5. In breach of his said fiduciary duty the First Defendant 

caused and/or allowed the Plaintiff to enter into the 
I 
, '  

.transfer more particularly described below, and into the 

; transactions described in paragraphs 11 to 13 hereof. 

PARTICULARS 

(a ) Up to April 9, 1995, the Plaintiff was the regis- 

tered proprietor of the properties comprised in 

Certificates of Title registered at Volume 1193 

Folio 600 and Volume 1188 Folio 20 of the Register 

Book of Titles ("The Properties") . 
(b) The Properties are known as 8 Upper Carmel Way, 

I 

Cherry Gardens in the parish of Saint Andrew, and 

at all, material times a substantial dwelLing house 

was erected thereon. The Properties are, and were, 

at all material times, worth not less than $30 million 

dollars. 

(c) By an instrument in writing dated the 10th day of 
I 

April, 1995 the Properties were transferred from 

-. the Plaintiff to the First Defendant, purportedly 

by way of gift. The transfer was signed on behalf of 

the Plaintiff by Ernest George Goodin, and, purportedly 

by Thomas Desulme. 

(d 1 The Plaintiff was at the material time suffering 

substantial losses and was insolvent. 

(e) Despite the substantial value of the Properties 

they were transferred to the First Defendant with 

no benefit accruing to the Plaintiff from its 

disposal and in circumstanccs which were not in 

the best interests of the Plaintiff. 

6. The said transfer was a sham and unenforceable in that inter alia: 

(a ) it was not at arn'slength; 

(b) it was nbt for value; 

(c) it was in breach of the First Defendant's fiduciary 

duty to the Plaintiff; and 

(d) it took place in circumstances which were fraudulent. 



PARTICULARS OF FRAUD 

i. The F i r s t  Defendan t  was aware  o f  t h e  

t r u e  v a l u e  o f  t h e  P r o p e r t i e s  and a s  

a  d i r e c t o r  would have  been  aware t h a t  
1 

t h e  P l a i n t i f f  was i n s o l v e n t  a t  t h e  

m a t e r i a l  t i m e .  

/- 
ii . A t  t h e  d a t e  o f  t h e  t r a n s f e r  Thomas 

c- IDesulme was d e c e a s e d  and  i n c a p a b l e  o f  

e x e c u t i n g  t h e  s a i d  t r a n s f e r .  

7 .  By a n  i n s t r u m e n t  i n  w r i t i n g  d a t e d  t h e  2 6 t h  d a y  o f  J u n e ,  

1997 t h e  F i r s t  Defendan t  mortgaged t h e  P r o p e r t i e s  i n  

f a v o u r  o f  t h e  Second Defendan t  f o r  t h e  sum o f  $431,000.00.  

8 .  The P r o p e r t i e s  have  and have  had a t  a l l  material  t i m e s  a 

month ly  v a l u e  o f  n o t  less t h a n  US$3,000.00. 

9.  The F i r s t  Defendan t  h a s  n o t  a c c o u n t e d  t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  f o r  

t h e  i n c o m e , r e c e i v e d  from, o r  t h e  u s e  o f  t h e  P r o p e r t i e s  s i n c e  

1 0 t h  A p r i l ,  1995,  t h e  d a t e  o f  t h e  a f o r e s a i d  t r a n s f e r .  

10 .  A s  a r e s u l t  o f  t h e  F i r s t  Defendan t  a f o r e s a i d  b r e a c h  o f  

f i d u c i a r y  d u t y ,  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  h a s  s u f f e r e d  l o s s  and  

damage. 

PARTICULARS 

( a )  Value  o f  t h e  P r o p e r t i e s  J$30  m i l l i o n '  ( a p p r o x i m a t e l y )  i: 
( b )  36 months ( t o  d a t e )  @US$3,000 p e r  month US$108,000.00 

11. I n  a d d i t i o n  t o  t h e  s a l a r y  and  emoluments t o  which  he  was 

e n t i t l e d ,  t h e  F i r s t  Defendan t  h a s  r e c e i v e d  v a r i o u s  sums from 

t h e  P l a i n t i f f  which  he  h a s  f a i l e d  a n d / o r  r e f u s e d  t o  r e p a y .  
'. 

I 

F u r t h e r m o r e ,  i n  o r d e r  t o  c o n c e a l  t h c  t r u e  d e s t i n a t i o n  o f  t h e  

f u n d s ,  t h e  F i r s t  Defendan t  c a u s e d  t h e  payments  t o  be  r e c o r d e d  

i n  t h e  P l a i n t i f f ' s  book i n  v a r i o u s  a c c o u n t s ,  many o f  which  

(-,') 
a p p e a r e d  t o  ha,ve n o  c o n n e c t i o n  w i t h  t h e  F i r s t  D e f e n d a n t .  

PARTICULARS 

Name  o f  Account  Used Sums Rece ived  and  Not R e p a i d ( $ )  

S p e c i a l  Advance's 
I 

S a l a r y  Advances - A l l  Employees 

D i r e c t o r s '  Loan Account  539 ,865  



S t a f f  Loans - A l l  Employees 1,115,856 

S a l a r i e s  - P r e s i d e n t ' s  Of f i ce  585,000 

Subs is tence  Account 449,294 

G i f t  and Donation Account 

1 2 .  Between November, 1995 and January,  1998 t h e  F i r s t  Defendant 

a l s o  caused t h e  P l a i n t i f f  t o  pay t h e  sum of $1,765,750 t o  h i s  

At torneys i n  payment f o r  l e g a l  f e e s  i ncu r red  by him p e r s o n a l l y  

and f o r  which t h e  P l a i n t i f f  rece ived  no b e n e f i t .  

13. Between May, 1995 and January,  1998 t h e  F i r s t  Defendant drew 

a  number of  cheques t o t a l l i n g  $245,360 i n  favour of  t h e  P la in -  

t i f f ,  and caused t h e  P l a i n t i f f  t o  g ive  him cash  i n  exchange 

t h e r e f o r .  upoh t h e  cheques being presen ted  f o r  payment, 

they were dishonoured by t h e  F i r s t  Defendant ' s  banker. Despi te  

r e c e i v i n g  n o t i c e  of  dishonour ,  t h e  F i r s t  Defendant has  f a i l e d  

and/or  r e fused  t o  reimburse t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  

Defence and Counterclaim 

I n  h i s  Defence and Counterclaim da ted  25th March, 1999 he s t a t e s :  

1 1. Save t h a t  t h i s  Defendant admits t h a t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  i s  a 

company incorpora ted  under t h e  Companies Act ,  no admission 

I i s  made a s  t o  paragraph 1 of t h e  Statement of  Claim. 

2. Paragraph 2 ,  3 .and  4 of t h e  Statement of Claim a r e  admit ted.  

3 .  A s  t o  paragraph 5 of  t h e  Statement of Claim t h i s  Defendant 

den ie s  t h a t  .he committed breaches of  h i s  f i d u c i a r y  Dut ies  a s  

a l l e g e d  o r  a t  a l l .  

4 .  I n  f u r t h e r  answer t o  paragraph 5 of t h e  Statement  o f  Claim 

t h i s  Defendant says  t h a t  t h e  proper ty  known a s  8  Carmel Way, 

Cherry Gardens was purchased by him wi th  h i s  own funds and 

, a loan  from thd  P l a i n t i f f  Company. 

5. This  Defendant f u r t h e r  s ays  p r i o r  t o  t h e  purchase of  t h e  

(-: 
I 

prope r ty ,  he d i scussed  t h e  ma t t e r  wi th  h i s  l a t e  f a t h e r ,  

Thomas Desulme, who was t h e  founder of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  company 

and who a t  t h e  m a t e r i a l  t ime was a  D i rec to r  and i t s  Execut ive  

Chairman. 

6 .  A t  a l l  m a t e r i a l  t imes t h e  la te  Thomas Desulme was a c t i n g  a s  

t h e  agent  of  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company. 



7. P r i o r  t o  t h e  purchase of  t h e  p rope r ty ,  t h i s  Defendant who 

was an employee of  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company and then  t h e  

Vice-President  i n  charge of manufacturing a s  a p a r t  o f  h i s  

emolument from t h e  s a i d  P l a i n t i f f  Company l i v e d  i n  an 

apartment owned by t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company f o r  which he p a i d  

no r e n t .  

8. That t h i s  Defendant informed t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme t h a t  he 

C'. proposed t o  make a down payment on t h e  p rope r ty  and o b t a i n  a 
L '  

m o ~ t g a g e  from Mutual L i f e  Assurance Soc ie ty  f o r  t h e  balance 

of t h e  purchase money whereupon t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme 
I 

advised  him th 'a t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company would advance t h e  

d e p o s i t  and g i v e  him a mortgage. He f u r t h e r  advised  t h a t  

t h i s  DefendanL should p u t  t h e  t i t l e  i n  t h e  Company's name a s  

Tax B e n e f i t s  were t o  be ga ined  i n  doing so .  

9. That it was agreed between t h i s  Defendant and t h e  l a t e  

(-11 Thomas Desulme a c t i n g  on behalf  of  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company 

I t h a t  t h e  Company would advance t h e  d e p o s i t  and t h a t  t h i s  

Defendant would be given a housing al lowance t o  compensate him 

f o r  t h e  l o s s  of e n t i t l e m e n t  t o  t h e  apar tment  and t h a t  t h e  
I 

s a i d  housing al lowance would be deemed a s  payment t o  t h e  

P l a i n t i f f  Company i n  r e s p e c t  of  t h e  mortgage. 

10 . That a c t i n g  i n  pursuance of  t h e  agreement r e f e r r e d  t o  sup ra  

t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company advanced t h e  d e p o s i t ,  t h e  t i t l e  was 

C' 1 

p u t  i n  t h e  name of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company and t h e  Defendant 

r epa id  h i s  indebtedness  t o  t h e  Company o u t  of  f o r e i q n  funds 

and t h e  housing al lowance r e f e r r e d  t o  above. 

11,. That i n  t h e  year  1986, t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company wrote  i t s  bank 

I Mutual S e c u r i t y  Limited and i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  t h e  p rope r ty ,  8 

Camel Way, belonged t o  Jean-Marie Desulme and was n o t  a 

p a r t  of  t h e  s e c u r i t y  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company was o f f e r i n g  i n  

r e s p e c t  of i t s  indebtedness  t o  t h e  bank, and t h e  bank wrote  

back confi rming same. 

12. This  Defendant says  t h a t  i n  o r  about  December 1986, t h e  

Company executed an Inst rument  of T rans fe r  of  t h e  s a i d  

p rope r ty  t o , t h i s  Defendant. The s a i d  t r a n s f e r  w a s  prepared 

by Kei th  Brooks, Attorney-at-Law and s igned  by two D i r e c t o r s  

of t h e  Company, one of whom was t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme and 



t h e  company's seal was a f f i x e d  t h e r e t o .  
I 
1 

13. That a f t e r  making c e r t a i n  a d d i t i o n s  t o  t h e  house a t  8  Carmel 

Way, t h i s  Defendant went t o  r e s i d e  t h e r e  and has  cont inued 

I t o  r e s i d e  t h e r e .  

1 4 .  That subsequent ly ,  t h e  Inst rument  of Transfer  was s e n t  t o  

Milhol land,  Ashenhein and Stone,  Attorneys-at-Law, b u t  due 

t o  cash flow problems of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company, t h e  s a i d  

t r a n s f e r  was n o t  r e g i s t e r e d  and was r e tu rned  t o  Milhol land,  

Ashenheim and Stone wi th  a  cover ing l e t t e r  da t ed  November 21, 

15. That t h e  s a i d  t r a n s f e r  w a s  m i s l a i d  and i n  September, 1993, a  
1 

new t r a n s f e r  was prepared and t h e  la te  Thomas Desulme and 

Ernes t  Goodin bo th  Di rec to r s  of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company s igned  

on beha l f  of  t h e  Company and same was witnessed by Sha ro l  G i l l ,  

S e c r e t a r y  of t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme and t h i s  i s  t h e  t r a n s f e r  

t h a t  was u l t i m a t e l y  r e g i s t e r e d .  

16. This  Defendant den ie s  paragraph 6 of  t h e  Statement  of C l a i m  

and r e f e r s  t o  paragraphs 5 t o  13 he reo f .  
'6 

17. Paragraph 7 of t h e  Statement of Claim i s  admit ted.  
I 

18. No admission i s  made a s  t o  paragraph 8 of t h e  Statement  of 

Claim. 

1 9 .  I n  answer t o  paragraphs 9 & 1 0  of t h e  Statement  of C l a i m  t h i s  

Defendant r e p e a t s  paragraphs 5 t o  13 he reo f .  

20. I n  answer t o  paragraphs 11 & 13 t h i s  Defendant den ie s  being 

indebted t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company i n  t h e  sum a l l e g e d  i n  t h e  

Statement of  Claim o r  a t  a l l  and says  t h a t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

Company wi th  t h e  approval  of i t s  D i r e c t o r s  made r e g u l a r  

c o n t r i b u t i o n s  t o  a  p a r t i c u l a r  p o l i t i c a l  p a r t y .  The s a i d  

c o n t r i b u t i o n s  were made i n  cash  and recorded i n  t h e  books a s  

money rece ived  by t h e  Defendant 

This  Defendant den ie s  t h e  a l l e g a t i o n  made i n  paragraph 1 2  of 
I 

t h e  Statement df C l a i m  and says  t h a t  t h e  sum expended was 

spen t  on behalf  of  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company. 

22. This  Defendant ,denies t h a t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  i s  e n t i t l e d  t o  any 

of t h e  r e l i e f s  claimed o r  t o  any r e l i e f  a t  a l l .  



COUNTERCLAIM 

1 L This  Defendant says  t h a t  a s  from 9 t h  March, 1998, he has  

been ba r red  from e n t e r i n g  t h e  premises of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

Company and prevented him fromperforming h i s  s e r v i c e s  a s  

P r e s i d e n t  t h e r e o f .  That h i s  s e r v i c e s  were te rmina ted  

without  notice1 and t h a t  he is  e n t i t l e d  t o  a t  l eas t  one 

, y e a r s  n o t i c e  or s a l a r y  i n  l i e u  t h e r e o f .  

( i  
2.  This  Defendant f u r t h e r  says  t h a t  i n  o r  about  t h e  yea r  1983, 

L' 
whi le  he was employed t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  Company t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

1 
company e s t a b l i s h e d  a Pension Scheme t o  which he and t h e  

o t h e r  workers ~ o n t r i b u t e d  and t h a t  t h i s  Defendant has  been 

depr ived of  t h e  c o n t r i b u t i o n s  made t o  t h e  s a i d  Pension Scheme. 

This  Defendant countercla ims 
f o r  one y e a r ' s  s a l a r y  

A l t e r n a t i v e l y ,  t h i s  Defendant 
c la ims redundancy payment of 

The Defendant countercla ims 
being t h e  sum con t r ibu ted  t o  
t h e  s a i d  Pension Scheme 

The P l a i n t i f f ' s  r e p l y  and Defence t o  Counterclaim was f i l e d  

l and served on t h e  9 th  A p r i l ,  1999. I n  t h i s  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  s t a t e s :  

1. No admission i s  made a s  t o  paragraphs 5 t o  10 of t h e  

Defence and Counterclaim, save and except  t h a t  t h e  l a t e  

Thomas Desulme was t h e  f a t h e r  of t h e  f i r s t  Defendant, 

founder of t h e  P l a i n t i f f ,  and a t  some time D i r e c t o r  o f  

t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  The P l a i n t i f f  s p e c i f i c a l l y  den ie s  t h a t  

t h e  f i r s t  Defendant has  pa id  any sums t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

wi th  r e f e r e n c e  t o  t h e  proper ty .  The P l a i n t i f f  f u r t h e r  

I s ays  t h a t  a t  a l l  m a t e r i a l  t imes t h e  f i r s t  Defendant was 

t r e a t e d  a s  l i v i n g  i n  proper ty  owned by t h e  P l a i n t i f f  and 

t h e  accommodat3on was t r e a t e d  as a t a x a b l e  emolument. A t  

no t i m e  was t h e  f i r s t  Defendant g iven ,  nor e n t i t l e d  t o  a 

housing allowance which was t r e a t e d  a s  payment i n  r e s p e c t  

of t h e  p rope r ty .  

2. I n  f u r t h e r  answer t o  paragraphs 5 t o  1 0  of t h e  Defence and 

Counterclaim, t h e  P l a i n t i f f  den ie s  t h a t  t h e  l a t e  Thomas 

Desulme a c t e d  as agent  of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  a s  a l l eged .  



3. Paragraphs 11, 1 2 ,  13 and 1 4  of t h e  Defence and Counterclaim 

a r e  n o t  admitted.  

4 .  The P l a i n t i f f  makes no admission as t o  t h e  c o n t r i b u t i o n s  

a l l e g e d  i n  paragraph 20 of  t h e  Defence and Counterclaim and 

denies  t h a t  any such c o n t r i b u t i o n s  were recorded i n  t h e  

manner a l l e g e d  by t h e  f i r s t  Defendant. 

DEFENCE TO COUNTERCLAIM 
f --', L, 5. Save and except  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant has  been bar red  

f ron  e n t e r i n g  t h e  premises of t h e  ~ l l a i n t i f f  and prevented 

from performing s e r v i c e s  as P res iden t  t h e r e o f ,  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

denies  paragraph 1 of  t h e  Counterclaim. 

6 .. The P l a i n t i f f  f u r t h e r  says  t h a t  t h e  s e r v i c e s  of t h e  f i r s t  

Defendant w e r e ' n o t  wrongfully terminated,  b u t  terminated by 

ope ra t ion  of law upon t h e  appointment of t h e  Receiver on 

March 9, 1999. 

7 .  Fur the r  and i n  t h e  a l t e r n a t i v e ,  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  w i l l  say t h a t  

by reason of t h e  ma t t e r s  s e t  o u t  i n  t h e  Statement of Claim, 

it w a s  e n t i t l e d  i n  any event  t o  d i smiss  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant 

summarily and without  n o t i c e .  

8. Fu r the r  and i n  t h e  a l t e r n a t i v e ,  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  w i l l  say t h a t  

t h e  f i r s t  Defendant having no t  made any cla im f o r  a redundancy 

payment w i t h i n  s i x  months of h i s  s e r v i c e s  having been 

c I terminated he i s  n o t  e n t i t l e d  t o  a redundancy payment. I n  

any event ,  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  says  t h a t  t h e  sum t o  which t h e  f i r s t  

Defendant could have been e n t i t l e d  a s  redundancy payment 

would no t  be one y e a r ' s  s a l a r y  but  a payment based on t h e  

number of continuous yea r s  o f  s e r v i c e  by t h e  f i r s t  Defendant 

t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  

9.  Save and except  t h a t  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  e s t a b l i s h e d  a Pension Scheme 

t o  which t h e  f i r , s t  Defendant and o t h e r  employees c o n t r i b u t e d ,  

( ' t h e  P l a i n t i f f  makes no admission a s  t o  paragraph 2 of t h e  
I 

Counterclaim. The P l a i n t i f f  w i l l  say t h a t  any sums t o  which 

t h e  f i r s t  ~ e f e n d a n t  i s  e n t i t l e d  in1 r e s p e c t  of c o n t r i b u t i o n s  
I 

t o  a Pension Scheme a r e  t o  due t o  him from t h e  Trus t ees  of  

t h e  Scheme and acnnot be s e t  o f f  a g a i n s t  any sum due t o  t h e  

P l a i n t i f f  £ram t h e  f i r s t  Defendant. 



10. Save a s  i s  ' he re inbe fo re  expres s ly  admit ted t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

den ie s  each and every a l l e g a t i o n  conta ined  i n  t h e  Counter- 

c la im a s  i f  t h e  same were s e t  o u t  and t r a v e r s e d  s e r i a t i m  

and r e p e a t s  and r e l i e s  on t h e  m a t t e r s  s e t  o u t  i n  t h e  S t a t e -  

ment of Claim. 

M r .  Richard Downer t h e  Receiver and Manager of  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

pursuant  t o  a  Debenturef in  h i s  a f f i d a v i t  da t ed  28th May, 1998 i n  

C, suppor t  of t h e  Motion f o r  Summary ~ u d ~ m e n t  v e r i f i e s  t h e  c l a im s e t  

o u t  i n  t h e  Statement of  Claim and s t a t e s  t h a t  i n  h i s  b e l i e f  t h e  

Defendant have no defence.  

I n  another  a f f i d a v i t  da t ed  27th A p r i l ,  1998 (pargraphs 4-11)  

M r .  Downer swore t h a t :  

4.  1 The f i r s t  ~ e f d n d a n t ,  Jean-Marie Desulme, i s  and w a s  a t  a l l  
I 

m a t e r i a l  t imes a  D i r e c t o r  o f  t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  

5. Up t o  A p r i l  9,,  1995, t h e  P l a i n t i f f  was t h e  r e g i s t e r e d  

p r o p r i e t o r  of  t h e  p r o p e r t i e s  comprised i n  C e r t i f i c a t e  of 

T i t l e  r e g i s t e r e d  a t  Volume 1193 F o l i o  600 and Volume 1188 

F o l i o  20 of  t h e  Reg i s t e r  Book of T i t l e s  ( " t h e  P r o p e r t i e s " ) .  

I Exhib i ted  h e r e t o  a r e  copies  of t h e  t i t l e s  r e f e r r e d  t o  above, 

marked "RD 3" and "RD 4"  r e s p e c t i v e l y .  

6. The p r o p e r t i e s  known a s  Upper Carmel Way, Cherry Gardens, i n  

t h e  p a r i s h  o f  S a i n t  Andrew and a t  a l l  m a t e r i a l  t imes ,  a  

s t i b s t a n t i a l  dwel l ing house was e r e c t e d  thereon .  

7 .  On t h e  10 th  day of A p r i l ,  1995 t h e  p r o p e r t i e s  were t r a n s f e r r e d  

from t h e  P l a i n t i f f  t o  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant, pu rpor t ed ly  by way 
I 

of  g i f t .  The t r a n s f e r  was s igned on behalf  of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

by Ernes t  George Goodin, and,  purpor ted ly  by Thomas Desulme. 

I e x h i b i t  h e r e t o  marked "RD 5" a  copy of t h e  t r a n s f e r ,  a long  

wi th  a  Decla ra t ion  of Value which i s  a t t a c h e d  t h e r e t o ,  which 

I have obta ined  from t h e  T i t l e s  Of f i ce .  

8'. I have been informed by h i s  son,  Yvon Thomas Desulme, and do 

v e r i l y  b e l i e v e  t h a t  t h e  s a i d  Thomas Desulme d i e d  on t h e  9 t h  

December, 1993 and was bu r i ed  on t h e  19 th  December, 1993. 

9.  S ince  t h e  s a i d  t r a n s f e r  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant has  mortgaged t h e  

p r o p e r t i e s  favour  of t h e  second Defendant f o r  t h e  sum of 

'% 

$431,000.00. I e x h i b i t  h e r e t o  marked "RD 6" a  copy of  t h e  

s a i d  mortgage. 



ilO. I have seen nothing in the files or records of the Plaintiff 

to indicate that as at April, 1995, or at any time prior to 

or subsequent to that time, there was a Director's meeting 

approving or ratifying this "gift" to the first Defendant or 
\ 

that the disposition had even taken place. 

11. Exhibited hereto and marked "RD 7'' are the financial state- 
I 

ments of the Plaintiff for the years ended 30th September, 

1994 and 30th September, 1995 which show that at all material 

times the Plaintiff was suffering substantial and increasing 

losses and declining net current assets and was clearly headed 

towards insol$ency. 

'1n yet a third affidavit dated 8th December, 1998 Mr. Downer 

stated that: 

''In paragraph ,3 of the Desulme affidavit it is alleged that 

there was an agreement between the first Defendant and the Vendor 

C) of the premises at 8 Carmel Way and that the late Thomas Desulme 

paid a deposit of $100,000.00 on the behalf of the first Defendant. 

The documents in the Plaintiff's files indicate that: 

(a) The agreement was between the Plaintiff and 

the Vendor. 

(b) The deposit was infact $210,000.00 not 
*\. 

I $100,000 .oo. 
(c) The deposit was paid by the Plaintiff and not 

r-. 

C.-J by the late Thomas Desulme. 

(d) The balance purchase price was paid by the 

I Plaintiff. 

4. I exhibit heretol as exhibit "RD 8", "RD 9" and "RD 10" 

respectively, copies of cheque number 48497 dated 18th 

April, 1986 fromt he Plaintiff to Dunn, Cox & Orrett in 

, the sum of $210,000.00; cheque number 50886 dated 28th 

August, 1986 in the sum of $504,548.81 from the Plaintiff 

Dunn, Cox & Orrett addressed to the Plaintiff. 

5. In paragraph 4 of the Desulme affidavit, it is alleged 

that a housing allowance due to the first Defendant was 
I 

to be applied to reduce and pay off his obligation to the 

Plaintiff for the monies allegedly advanced on his behalf 

for the purchaSe of the property. The Plaintiff's records 



for the period 1996-1997 indicate that during this 
I 

period, the first Defendant did not receive housing 

allowance, but instead occupieda company-owned house. 

6 . As a result, and in accordance with the law, the first 

Defendant was treated as receiving a taxable emolument 

in the form of the accommodation, which was valued at 15% 

of his basic salary, and he paid income tax on that sum. 

Exhibited hereto marked "RD ll", "RD 12" and "RD 13:' 
f --\ 
L1 respectively, are copies of the Plaintiff's annual PAYE 

returns to the Income Tax Department for the years ending 

December 31, lq88, 1989, 1990 and 1991, respectively. 
I 

7'. The records of the Plaintiff also indicate that there were 
I 

no deductions from the first Defendant's salary during the 

period 1986 to ' 1997 towards a housing loan. 

8. The records of the Plaintiff have at all material times 

shown the said property as an asset of the Plaintiff. I 

have seen no records of the Plaintiff which indicate that 

the first Defendant has any interest whatsoever in the 

property. Exhibited hereto by way of example and marked 

"RD 15" is a copy of the Plaintiff's fixed asset schedule 

as at the end of 1994, which shows the property as one of 

the assets of the Plaintiff. 

9. In paragraph 3 of the Desulme affidavit, it is also alleged 

(-:, that in 1986 the first Defendant transferred the sum of 

US$16,000.00 to his father's account, purportedly to be used 

for the payrnenk for goods used by the Plaintiff. The Plain- 

tiff's records show that there were only two occasions 

between 1985 and 1987 that the late Mr. Thomas Desulme paid 

for purchases for the company. These purchases were in 

January, 1986 and August, 1986 from Melam Plastic, a company 

owned by the late Thomas Desulme. In posting the relevant 

accounting entrjes, the payments were credited to the late 

Mr. Thomas Desulme's director'sloan account, and therefore 

the Plaintiff did not receive the benefit of those payments. 

Cynthia Desulme the sister-in-law of the first Defendant and 

the Secretary of the Plaintiff from its incorporation until around 

December, 1993 testified that her father-in-law the late Thomas 



Desulme d ied  on t h e  9 t h  December, 1993 and was bur ied  on t h e  19 th  

December, 1993. , 

She e x h i b i t e d  a  copy of t h e  ins t rument  of t r a n s f e r  da ted  10 th  

A p r i l ,  1995 s igned on behalf  of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  by Ernes t  George Goodin 

and purpor ted ly  by h e r  father-in-law Thomas Desulme. 

Of course  M r .  Thomas Desulme could no t  have executed a  t r a n s -  

f e r  i n  A p r i l ,  1995. M r s .  Desulme a l s o  swore t h a t  she  was very 

f a m i l i a r  wi th  h e r  fa ther - in- law 's  s i g n a t u r e  and i n  her  op in ion  t h e  

s i g n a t u r e  on t h e  t r a n s f e r  i s  not  h i s  t r u e  s igna tu re .  

M r .  Yvon Thomas Desulme a son of t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme and 

b ro the r  pf t h e  f i r s t  Defendant, a  d i r e c t o r  of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  from 

1972 t o  1996 i n  an a f f i d a v i t  da ted  27th A p r i l ,  1998 swore t h a t  t h e  

p r o p e r t i e s  known as 8  Upper Carmel Way were purchased by t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  

H e ,  t o o ,  swore t h a t ,  i n  h i s  opinion t h e  s i g n a t u r e  on t h e  t r a n s f e r  

which purpor t s  t o  be h i s  f a t h e r ' s  w a s  n o t  w r i t t e n  by h i s  f a t h e r .  He 
I 

e x h i b i t e d  an a f f i d a v i t  from M r .  Wilford Williams an handwri t ing e x p e r t  
-L I 

of over  twenty (20) yea r s  experience.  

There a r e  two a f f i d a v i t s  f i l e d  on behalf  of  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant. 

One sworn t o  by M r .  E rnes t  Goodin and t h e  o t h e r  by t h e  f i r s t  
I 

Defendant himself both da ted  23rd June,  1998. I n  h i s  a f f i d a v i t  t h e  

f i r s t  Defendant claims t h a t  i n e a r l y  p a r t  of 1986 he came t o  an 

agreement wi th  M r ,  S i n c l a i r  S h i r l e y  t o  purchase premises now known 

I as 8 Carmel Way f o r  t h e  sum of  $700,000.00. The premises were p a r t l y  

completed bu t  c o n s t r u c t i o n  had ceased.  He d iscussed  t h e  m a t t e r  w i th  

h i s  f a t h e r ,  t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme who agreed t o  advance t h e  d e p o s i t  

of $100,000.00 on h i s  behalf  on t h e  unders tanding t h a t  he would 

re-imburse him o u t  of monies he ld  by him i n  Miami, F l o r i d a  (Para .  3 ) .  

He f u r t h e r  claimed t h a t  i n  o rde r  t o  p r o t e c t  h i s  i n t e r e s t  h i s  

f a t h e r  had an I n s t r ~ e n t  of T rans fe r  prepared by M r .  Kei th  Brooks 

and t h a t  t h i s  was executed by h i s  f a t h e r  and M r .  George Johnson a s  

D i r e c t o r s  of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  and himself and t h e  s e a l  of t h e  company 

UT" a f  f i x e d  (para .  1 5) . 
A t  paragraph l b  he s t a t e s  t h a t  t h e  Instrument  of T rans fe r  

da ted  10th  A p r i l ,  1995 w a s  i n  f a c t  executed i n  September, 1993. M r .  
I 

Goodin a  d i r e c t o r  o f , t h e  company a t  t h e  t ime,  i n  h i s  a f f i d a v i t  speaks 

t o  d i scuss ions  he had wi th  and i n s t r u c t i o n s  given t o  him by t h e  

la te  Thomas Desulme wi th  a  view t o  t a k i n g  " s t e p  t o  t i d y  up h i s  a f f a i r s . "  



It i s  impor t an t  t o  n o t e  t h a t  t h e s e  i n s t r u c t i o n s  which s u p p o r t  t h e  

f i r s t  Defendan t ' s  de f ence  were n o t  g iven  t o  him by t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

b u t  a l l e g e d l y  by M r .  Thomas Desulme. 

Summary I Judgment 

S .79(1)  of  t h e  J u d i c a t u r e  ( C i v i l  P rocedure  Code) p rov ide s :  

Where t h e  de f endan t  appea r s  t o  a  w r i t  o f  

of  summons s p e c i a l l y  i ndo r sed  w i t h  or 

accompanied by a s t a t e m e n t  o f  c l a i m  under  

S e c t i o n  1 4  of  t h i s  Law, t h e  p l a i n t i f f  may 

on a f f i d a v i t  made by h imse l f  o r  by any 

o t h e r  pe r son  who can swear p o s i t i v e l y  t o  

t h e  f a c t s ,  v e r i f y i n g  t h e  cause  o f  a c t i o n  

and t h e  amount a la imed  ( i f  any l i q u i d a t e d  

sum i s  c l a i m e d ) ,  and s t a t i n g  t h a t  i n  h i s  

b e l i e f  t h e r e  i s  no de f ence  t o  t h e  a c t i o n  
I e x c e p t  a$ t o  t h e  amount o f  damages c la imed  

i f  any,  app ly  t o  a  Judge f o r  l i b e r t y  t o  

e n t e r  judgment f o r  such remedy o r  r e l i e f  

a s  upon t h e  s t a t e m e n t  o f  c l a i m  t h e  p l a i n -  

t i f f  may be  e n t i t l e d  t o .  The Judge  there- 

upon, unless the de fendan t  satisfies him 

that h e  h a s  a good de f ence  t o  the a c t i o n  on 

the m e r i t s  o r  d i s c l o s e s  such f a c t s  a s  may 

be deemed s u f f i c i e n t  t o  e n t i t l e  him t o  
defend t h e  a c t i o n  g e n e r a l l y ,  may make an 

o r d e r  empowering t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t o  e n t e r  such  

judgment a s  may be  j u s t ,  having r e g a r d  t o  

t h e  n a t u r e  o f  t h e  remedy o r  r e l i e f  c la imed."  

P r e l i m i n a r y  Requirements  

( a )  The W r i t  o f  Summons must have been s p e c i a l l y  

endorsed  ,with o r  accompanied by a S ta tement  

of  Claim under  S.14 of  t h e  C i v i l  Procedure  

Code. 

( b )  The de f endan t  must  have e n t e r e d  appearance  t o  

t h e  W r i t  Lf Summons. 

I (c)  The a p p l i c a t i o n  must be  suppo r t ed  by an  a f f i d a v i t  

which v e r i f i e s  t h e  f a c t s  and c o n t a i n s  a  S t a t emen t  

of  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  b e l i e f  t h a t  t h e r e  i s  no d e f e n c e  

t o  t h e  a c t i o n .  

It i s  n o t  i n  d i s p u t e  t h a t  t h e s e  r equ i r emen t s  have been met.  

These r equ i r emen t s  having been m e t ,  t h e  burden t h e r e a f t e r  

s h i f t s  t o  t h e  de f endan t  to :  



( a )  S a t i s f y  t h e  c o u r t  t h a t  he has  a 

good defence t o  t h e  a c t i o n  on 

merits or 
(b) d i s c l o s e  such f a c t s  a s  may be 

deemed s u f f i c i e n t  t o  e n t i t l e , h i m  

t o  defend t h e  a c t i o n  g e n e r a l l y .  

M r .  Hylton Q.C., submitted t h a t  t h e r e  a r e  t w o  s e p a r a t e  i s s u e s :  

(a) Has t h e  f i r s t  Defendant shown a 

good o r  a rguable  defence  t o  t h e  

P l a i n t i f f ' s  c l a im f o r  t h e  house? 

(b)  H a s  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant shown a  

good and a rguable  defence  t o  t h e  

P l a i n t i f f ' s  c la im f o r  t h e  money? 

Counsel f o r  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  contended t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant, 

as a  d i r e c t o r  of t h e l p l a i n t i f f ,  owed t h e  P l a i n t i f f  a  f i d u c i a r y  du ty  

$0 apply i t s  a s s e t s  only f o r  t h e  purposes of  t h e  company. For t h i s  

he  r e l i e d  on Aberdeen Railway Company v. B l a i k i e  1843-1860 A l l  E.R. 
I 

L/ Rep .  249; I n t e r n a t i o n a l  S a l e s  and Aqencies Ltd. and Another v, Marcus 

and Another (1982) 3 A l l  E.R. 551; Halsbury 's  L a w s  o f  Enqland 4 t h  

E d i t i o n  V o l u m e s  7 and 16 paragraphs 518 and1911 r e s p e c t i v e l y .  

H e  a l s o  submit ted t h a t  t h e  l i a b i l i t y  r e s u l t i n g  from a breach 

of t h e s e  f i d u c i a r y  d u t i e s  i s  independent of  f r aud ,  i n t e n t  o r  pe r sona l  

incompetence and e , x i s t s  where t h e  breach i s  innocent  o r  merely t e c h n i c a l .  

Consequently t h e  claim is  no t  based on a l l e g a t i o n s  of  f r aud ,  a l though 

it arguably d i s c l o s e s  i n s t a n c e s  of f r audu len t  behaviour.  Here he 

r e l i e s  on Hanbury 8 Maudsleys Modern Equi ty  a t  paqe 598. 

M r .  Scharschmidt i s  n o t  d i s p u t i n g  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant owed 

t h e  p l a i n t i f f  a f i d u c i a r y  duty.  I n  h i s  defence  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant 

den ie s  t h a t  he  committed breaches  o f  h i s  f i d u c i a r y  d u t i e s .  M r .  

Scharschmidt ' s  con ten t ion  i s  t h a t  t h e r e  i s  a misconception t h a t  t h e  
, 

c o u r t  i s  involved i n a t r i a l .  He submit ted t h a t  what t h e  defendant  i s  

r e q u i r e d  t o  do  i s  t o  show t h a t  he has  a  defence t o  t h e  a c t i o n  on t h e  

C! m e r i t s .  Once t h e  defence d i s l c o s e s  a c r e d i b l e  defence,  t h a t  i s  enough, 

and t h e  defence may do s o  by a f f i d a v i t  o r  o therwise .  This  is  indeed 

s o ,  however, i n  my vipw t h e  n a t u r e  of  t h e  du ty  of  a d i r e c t o r  of a  
I 

company i s  r e l e v a n t  t o  t h e  d e c i s i o n  which t h e  c o u r t  has  t o  make. 



DIRECTOR'' S DUTY - , I . '  

I n  t h e  Aberdeen Railway Company c a s e  ( sup ra )  t h e  c o u r t  h e l d  
I 

t h a t :  

"It i s  t h e  du ty  of  a  d i r e c t o r  o f  a company 
s o  t o  act  a s  b e s t  t o  promote t h e  i n t e r e s t s  
o f  t h e  company. That du ty  i s  o f  a f i d u c i a r y  

I 

c h a r a c t e r ,  and no one who has  such d u t i e s  
t o  d i s cha rge  can be al lowed t o  e n t e r  i n t o  
engagements, i n  which he h a s ,  o r  can have a  
p e r s o n a l  i n t e r e s t  which c o n f l i c t s ,  o r  p o s s i b l y  
may c o n f l i c t ,  w i t h  t h e  i n t e r e s t s  o f  t h e  
company. A d i r e c t o r ,  t h e r e f o r e ,  i s  prec luded  
from e n t e r i n g  on beha l f  o f  t h e  company i n t o  
a  c o n t r a c t  w i th  himself  o r  w i t h  a  f i r m  o r  
company 'of which he i s  a  member, and so 
s t r i c t l y  i s  t h i s  p r i n c i p l e  adhered t o  t h a t  
no q u e s t i o n  can be r a i s e d  a s  t o  t h e  f a i r n e s s  
or  u n f a i r n e s s  of  a c o n t r a c t  s o  e n t e r e d  i n t o . "  

I n  t h e  INternational Sales and Agencies Ltd c a s e  ( sup ra )  where 

cheques were drawn bb t h e  on ly  e f f e c t i v e  d i r e c t o r  of  t h e  company on 

$he company's account  t o  s e t t l e  a  p e r s o n a l  d e b t  i n c u r r e d  by a  
1 

deceased d i r e c t o r ,  LawsonJ, s a i d  a t  p.556: 

"I am q u i t e  s a t i s f i e d  and I ho ld  t h a t  t h e  
i s s u e  of  t h e  cheques by M r .  Munsey w i t h  
i n t e n t  t h a t  t hey  should  be cashed by t h e  
defendants  and taken  i n  payment o f  t h e i r  
l o a n  t o  t h e  deceased,  Aziz Fancy, was a  
c l e a r  b reach  o f  M r .  Munseyls du ty  t o  t h e  
p l a i n t i f f s  a s  t h e i r  d i r e c t o r .  I t  i s  t o  my 
mind unarguable  t h a t  a  d i r e c t o r  who g i v e s  
away h i s  company's money wi thou t  t h e  
consen t  of  t h e  sha reho lde r s  i s  i n  b reach  of  
h i s  f i d u c i a r y  du ty  a s  a  c o n s t r u c t i v e  t r u s t e e  
of  t h e  money i n  t h e  banking accounts  o f  t h e  
company over  which he has  c o n t r o l . "  

I n  t h e  i n s t a n t  c a s e  it i s  wi thou t  doubt  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant 

owed a  f i d u c i a r y  du ty  t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f .  I t  i s  t h e  c o n t e n t i o n  o f  
r ,  

C' t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant has  breached t h i s  f i d u c i a r y  

du ty  and must make r e s t i t u t i o n .  

Reference w a s  made t o  Halsbury ' s  Laws o f  England 4 t h  E d i t i o n  

Volume 7 paragraph 518 which states: 

"A d i r e c t o r  who h a s  misappl ied  o r  r e t a i n e d  
o r  become l i a b l e  o r  accountab le  f o r  money 
o r  p rope r ty  of  t h e  money o r  who has  been 
g u i l t y  o f  any breach  o f  t r u s t  i n  r e l a t i o n  
t o  t h e  company must make r e s t i t u t i o n  o r  
compensate t h e  company f o r  t h e  l o s s .  Where 
t h e  money o f  t h e  company has  been a p p l i e d  

(-'\, f o r  purposes  which t h e  company cannot  , 
s a n c t i o n , /  t h e  d i r e c t o r s  must r e p l a c e  it, 
however h o n e s t l y  t hey  may have ac t ed . "  

I 

Volume 1 6  ( ibidem) a t  paragraph 9 1 1  s t a t e s :  

"The p r i n c i p l e  of fo l lowing  a s s e t s  a p p l i e s  
whereevert a  f i d u c i a r y  r e l a t i o n  between 
p a r t i e s  s u b s i s t s  and ex t ends  t o  enab le  prop- 
e r t y  t o  be recovered n o t  merely from t h o s e  
who a c q u i r e  a  l e g a l  t i t l e  i n  breach o f  
some t r u s t ,  exp re s s  o r  c o n s t r u c t i v e ,  o r  o f  



some o t h e r  f i d u c i a r y  o b l i g a t i o n ,  b u t  from 
v o l u n t e e r s  i n t o  whose hands t h e  l e g a l  
t i t l e '  t o  p rope r ty  has  come, provided t h a t ,  
a s  a  r e s u l t  of what has  gone be fo re ,  some 
e q u i t a b l e  p r o p r i e t a r y  i n t e r e s t  had a t t a c h e d  
t o  t h e  proper ty  i n  t h e  hands of t h e  vo lun tee r . "  

With t h e s e  p r i n c i p l e s  i n  mind, I w i l l  now proceed t o  cons ide r  

whether t h e  f i r s t  Defendant has  shown a  good o r  a rguab le  defence  t o  

f h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  claims f o r  t h e  money and t h e  house. 

The Money 

(i) I n  paragraph 11 of  i t s  Statement of Claim t h e  p l a i n t i f f  c la ims  

$11,386,340.00 be ing  t h e  sum t o t a l  of  va r ious  amounts r ece ived  by 

t h e  f i r s t  Defendant fromt he p l a i n t i f f .  M r .  Richard Downer i n  h i s  

, 
f i r s t  a f f i d a v i t  s a i d  t h a t  from i n v e s t i g a t i o n s  he d i scovered  t h a t  

t h e  f irst  Defendant had obta ined  s u b s t a n t i a l  amounts of t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  

money f o r  h i s  persona l  use  and has  n o t  r e p a i d  those  sums t o  t h e  

p l a i n t i f f .  H e  v e r i f i e d  t h e  c la im of t h e  p l a i n t i f f .  

1 n  h i s  de fence .  (paragraph 2 0 )  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant den ie s  being 
I 

indebted  t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  i n  t h i s  sum o r  a t  a l l .  H e  c la ims  t h a t  

t h e  p l a i n t i f f  company wi th  t h e  approval  of i t s  Di rec to r s  made . regular  

c o n t r i b u t i o n s  t o  a    articular p o l i t i c a l  p a r t y .  The s a i d  c o n t r i b u t i o n s ,  
I 

he s tates,  were made i n  cash and recorded i n t h e  books a s  money 

I r e ce ived  by t h e  Defendant. The f i r s t  Defendant i s  accord ingly  admi t t ing  

t h a t  t h e  sums t h e  p l a i n t i f f  c la ims  a r e  recorded i n  the1 books of  t h e  

I p l a i n t i f f  a s  money he rece ived .  

C: I 
Thus h i s  a s s e r t i o n s  t h a t  t h e s e  sums r e p r e s e n t  c o n t r i b u t i o n s  

t o  a  p a r t i c u $ a r  p o l i t i c a l  p a r t y  i s  c o n t r a d i c t e d  by t h e  contemporary 

documents and t h e ,  compell ing evidence of  M r .  Richard Downer. 

I Although it i s  t r u e ,  a s  M r .  Scharschmidt Q.C . ,  submit ted,  t h a t  w e  a r e  

n o t  h e r e  involved i n  a  t r i a l ,  t h e  mere a s s e r t i o n  of a  f a c t  i n  c e r t a i n  

c i rcumstances  w i l l  n q t  s u f f i c e  t o  show t h a t  t h e  defendant  .has a good 

defence on - t h e  m e r i t s .  
, 1 

I n  Bhogul v, Punjab National Bank (1988) 2 A l l  E.R. 296 where t h e  

0 ' f%cts  undcr lyi~ng most of the  a l l e g a t i o n s  were very  much i n  i s s u e ,  
I 

singham L . J .  a t  p.303 ( c )  s t a t e d :  

"But t h e  c o r r e c t n e s s  of  f a c t u a l  a s s e r t i o n s  
such a s  t h e s e  cannot be decided on a ~ ~ l i c a -  
t i o n  f o r  summary judgment u n l e s s  t he - -  
a s s e r t i o n s  a r e  shown t o  be m a n i f e s t l y  f a l s e  
e i t h e r  because of  t h e i r  i n h e r e n t  i m p l a u s i b i l i t y  
o r  because of t h e i r  i ncons i s t ency  wi th  t h e  
contemporary documents o r  o t h e r  compell inq 
evidence " (emphasis mine) 



- 18 - 
I n  t h e  i n s t a n t  case  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant a s  I s a i d  be fo re ,  

has  admit ted t h a t  t h e  sums claimed a r e  recorded in ' l t he  books and 

records of  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  company of which he was a Di rec to r  a s  having 
I I 

been rece ived  i n  cash  by t h e  f i r s t  Defendant. He nonethe less  c la ims  

t h a t  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  wi th  t h e  approval  i t s  d i r e c t o r s  made c o n t r i b u t i o n s  

i n  cash t o  a p o l i t i c a l  p a r t y  and t h a t  it w a s  t h e s e  c o n t r i b u t i o n s  

which were recorded i n  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  books a s  money rece ived  by him. 

I ask myself whether it i s  c r e d i b l e  o r  reasonably probable  Ci ,/ 

t h a t  c o n t r i b u t i o n s  made by a company t o  a p o l i t i c a l  partyllwould be 

, en te red  i n  t h e  books of  t h e  company a s  payments made t o  a Di rec to r  

o f  t h e  company. I have concluded t h a t  it i s  no t .  

The p l a i n t i f f  i n  paragraph 11 of  i t s  Statement of c la im gave 

p a r k i c u l a r s  of t h e  names of  accounts.  It seems t o  me t h a t  t h e r e  
I 

i s  no t  a f a i r  or reasonable  p r o b a b i l i t y  of t h e  defendants  having a 

real o r  bona f i d e  defence.  

(ii) I n  paragraph 12 of t h e  Statement of Claim t h e  p l a i n t i f f  c la ims  

t h a t  between November 1995 and January 1998 t h e  f i r s t  Defendant 

I a l s o  caused t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t o  pay t h e  sum of  $1,765,750.00 t o  h i s  

I 
a t t o r n e y s  i n  payment f o r  l e g a l  f e e s  incu r red  by him pe r sona l ly  and 

f o r  which t h e  p l a i n t i f f  rece ived  no b e n e f i t .  , 

I The defendant  den ies  t h i s  a l l e g a t i o n  and s t a t e s  t h a t  t h e  sum 
I 

expended was spen t  on behalf  of  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  company. 

Here aga in  it seems t o  me t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant is  n o t  
I 

C : d i s p u t i n g  t h e  averment t h a t  t h e  sum claimed was expended f o r  l e g a l  

' f e e s  a l b e i t  he i s  say ing  it w a s  spen t  on behalf  of t h e  p l a i n t i f f  
I 

company. 

I 
I M r .  Downer t h e  Receiver and Manager of t h e  bus iness  p rope r ty  

and a s s e t s  of  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  doesnot lagree  with  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant ' s  

claim. ' I 

Although i n  t h e s e  proceedings it i s  no t  f o r  m e  t o  weigh t h e  

r i v a l  claims, t h e  mere' a s s e r t i o n  by t h e  Defendnat t h a t  t h e  p a r t i c u l a r  

C;) sum w a s  spent  on behaif  of t h e  p l a i n t i f f  company does n o t  i n  my 

view i p s o  f a c t o  e n t i t l e  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant t o  l eave  t o  defend. I 

must look a t  a l l  t h e  m a t e r i a l  before  m e  and ask my s e l f  whether t h e  

Defendant has s a t i s f i e d  me t h a t  t h e r e  i s  "a  f a i r  and reasonable  

p r o b a b i l i t y  of t h e  Defendant e s t a b l i s h i n g  a r e a l  o r  bona f i d e  defence." 
.. 

I n  my view t h e  f i r s t  Defendant i n  t h e s e  c i rcumstances  i s  



i s  r equ i r ed  by h i s  a f f i d a v i t  t o  s a t i s f y  me t h a t  he has  a good 

defence .  A s  a l r e a d b  s t a t e d  two af  f i d a v i t s  were f i l e d  on beha l f  o f  

' the  f i r s t  Defendant. 
I 

M r .  E rnes t  Goodin a D i rec to r  and v i c e - p r e s i d e n t ,  Finance,  

o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  company, d i d  n o t  i n  h i s  a f f i d a v i t  address  t h i s  i s s u e .  

The f i r s t  Defendant i n  h i s  a f f i d a v i t  a t  paragraph 1 2  s a i d :  

' ' . . . . . . . . . . .unlike M r .  Downer I have n o t  
been permi t ted  t o  have acces s  t o  t h e  books 
and r eco rds  of t h e  p l a i n t i f f  and I am t h e r e -  
f o r e  unable  t o  provide my a t t o r n e y s  wi th  t h e  
in format ion  and fact 's ,  necessary  t o  prepare  
my Defence and Counterclaim, and t o  respond 
t o  t h e  c la ims  made i n  paragraphs 11, 1 2  and 
13 of t h e  Statement of C l a i m ,  and o t h e r  
m a t t e r s  n o t  he re inbe fo re  d e a l t  wi th ."  

This  a f f i d v i t  was sworn t o  on t h e  23rd June,  1998, H i s  Defence 

and Counterclaim i s  da ted  March 2 5 ,  1999. 

I It  i s  ha rd ly  necessary  f o r  me t o  say  t h a t  t h e  c i v i l  procedure 

does provide t h e  defendant  w i th  t h e  ways and means of acces s ing  t h e  

C' p l a i n t i f f ' s  books and records .  The reason t h e  f i r s t  Defendant gave, 

i s  t o  say  t h e  l e a s t l a  very lame one. 

I can only  conclude t h a t  what t h e  f i r s t  Defendant s a i d  i n  

answer t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  c la im i s  no t  c r e d i b l e  and t h e r e  i s  no 
I 

I ' ' f a i r  o r  reasonable  p r o b a b i l i t y  of him s e t t i n g  up a defence."  

(iii) I n  paragraph 13 of t h e  Statement of Claim t h e  p l a i n t i f f  

a v e r s  t h a t  between day ,  1995 and January,  1998 t h e  f i r s t  Defendant 

drew a number of  cheques t o t a l l i n g  $245,360.00 i n  favour  of  t h e  

p l a i n t i f f  and caused t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t o  g ive  him cash  i n  exchange 

I t h e r e f o r .  Upgn t h e  cheques being presen ted  f o r  payment they  were 

dishonoured by t h e  f i r s t  Defendant ' s  bankers d e s p i t e  t h e  f i r s t  

I Defendant r ece iv ing  n o t i c e  of dishonour ,  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant has  

f a i l e d  and/or  r e fused  t o  reimburse t h e  p l a i n t i f f .  
I 

The f i r s t  Defendant 's  Defence t o  t h i s  c la im i s  t h e  same a s  

t h a t  a t  (i) above. 

I \ 
This  "defence" dese rves  t o  be given s h o r t  s h r i f t .  I n  f a c t  

1 ,C-1 t h e  f i r s t  Defendant has  no t  s e r i o u s l y  addressed t h i s  c la im i n  h i s  

a f f i d a v i t  o r  i n  t h e  Defence f i l e d .  

Accordingly I agree  wi th  M r .  Hyl ton ' s  submission t h a t  t h e  

f i r s t  Defendant has  ho t  shown t h a t  he has  a good o r  a rguable  defence 

t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  c la im f o r  t h e  money. 



THE HOUSE 
I 

Has t h e  f i r s t ~ e f e n d a n t  shown t h a t  he  ha s  a  good and a r g u a b l e  

defence  t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  c l a i m  f o r  t h e  house? 
, 

M r .  Hylton a rgues  t h a t  on t h e  m a t e r i a l  b e f o r e  c o u r t  t h e  

answer must be  i n  t h e  n e g a t i v e .  The f i r s t  Defendant  h e  s a i d  was i n  

b reach  of h i s  f i d u c i a r y  d u t y  t o  t h e  company i n  t h a t  he d i d  n o t  app ly  
I 

t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  a s s e t s  f o r  t h e  purposes  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  company. 

, H e  contended t h a t  t h e  t r a n s f e r  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  p r o p e r t y  t o  

t h e  first Defendant  was a  sham and unenforceab le  i n ' t h a t :  

( a )  it was n o t  a t  arms l e n g t h  

(b )  ' it was n o t  f o r  v a l u e  
I 

(c)  it was i n  b reach  o f  t h e  f i r s t  
Defendan t ' s  f i d u c i a r y  d u t y  t o  
t h e  p l a i n t i f f .  

(d)  i t  took  p l a c e  i n  c i rcumstances  
t h a t  were f r a u d u l e n t .  

The a u t h o r i t i e s  he  contended show t h a t  even if t h e  Defendant  

T'\i a c t e d  w i t h  complete  hones ty  he must\ r e t u y n  ithe house.  H e  r e l i e d  on 

Bishopsqate Investment Management Ltd. (In Liquidation) v. Maxwell 

(No. 2) 1994 1 All E.R. 261; Re: Kinq's Settlement (1931) 2  Ch. 294; 

Toepferv. Cremer (1975) 2 Lloyds Rep. 118 and D o e  D. Bryan v. Banks 

(1821) 106 E.R. 984. / 

I M r .  Scharschmidt  submi t ted  t h a t  t h e  de fence  o f  t h e  f i r s t  

Defendant must be  seen i n  t h e  c o n t e x t  o f  a  f a t h e r  and son  r e l a t i o n s h i p  

and t h e  p o s i t i o n  o f  t h e  f a t h e r  who a t  t h e  t i m e  was t h e  founder ,  

d i r e c t o r  and e x e c u t i v e  chairman o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ,  and a l s o  t h e  c l a i m  
! 

of  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant t b a t  h i s  f a t h e r  was a c t i n g  a s  a g e n t  f o r  t h e  
I 

p l a i n t i f f .  He s u b m i t t e d i t h a t  t h e  defence  raises r e a l  and s u b s t a n t i a l  
I 

q u e s t i o n s  t o  be  t r i e d .  I 

I 

I H e  contended t h a t  qhe defence  i s  r e l y i n g  on t h e  t r a n s f e r  o f  1986. 
I 

~ h ' e r e  i s  no i n h e r e n t  i n p q a u s i b i l i t y  i n  t h e  de fence ,  no i n c o n s i s t e n c y  

w i t h  contemporary docume ts. H e  r e f e r r e d  e x t e n s i v e l y  t o  t h e  Supreme 
I 

Court P r a c t i c e  (U.K.) 1995 1 Volume 1 P a r t  1 pp. 144-161. 

0 A s  r e g a r d s  t h e  ~ n s t k u m e n t  o f  T r a n s f e r ,  he  contended t h a t  t h e r e  
I 

can be  no q u e s t i o n  o f  it be ing  a  sham s i n c e :  

I (a) The d o c b e n t s  were p r epa red  by 
M r .  Ke i t h  Brooks an a t to rney-a t - l aw.  

(b )  The i n s  rument of  t r a n s f e r  was s e n t  
by qr. k o o d i n  t o  Mi lho l land ,  Ashenheim 
& Stone1 I 

I (c) M r .  Gooi in  was adv i sed  by Mi lho l land  
1 



Ashenheim and S tone  through 
M i s s  Edwards-Bourne, a t t o r n e y -  
a t - law,  o f  t h e  c o s t s  o f  p r e p a r i n g  

I t h e  t r a n s f e r .  

( T h e  t r a n s f e r  was r e t u r n e d  t o  t h e  
I p l a i n t i f f .  

The C e r t i f i c a t e  o f  T i t l e  i n  r e s p e c t  of  t h e  p a r c e l s  o f  l a n d  

r e g i s t e r e d  a t  Volume 1193 F o l i o  600 and Volume 1188 F o l i o  20  show 

t h a t  t h e  p r o p e r t i e s  owned by t h e  p l a i n t i f f  w e r e  t r a n s f e r r e d  t o  t h e  

f i r s t  Defendant by way o f  g i f t s .  These t r a n s f e r s  were r e g i s t e r e d  

on t h e  1 3 t h  A p r i l ,  1995. 

There i s  no d i s p u t e  t h a t  t h e  d a t e  o f  t h e  In s t rumen t  of  T r a n s f e r  

i s  1 0 t h  A p r i l ,  1995. Th i s  t r a n s f e r  w a s  s i gned  on beha l f  of t h e  

p l a i n t i f f  E r n e s t  George Goodin and p u r p o r t e d l y  by M r .  Thomas Desulme. 
I 

I t  w a s  a l s o  s i g n e d  by t h e  f i r s t  D e f e n d a n t , ~ ~ e a n - ~ a r i e  Desulme. 

M r .  Thomas Desulme was o f  cou r se  by t h e n  dead and b u r i e d .  H e  d i e d  

on t h e  9 t h  December, 1993 and was b u r i e d  on t h e  1 9 t h  December, 1993; 

The f i r s t  Defendan t ' s  de f ence  i s  t h a t  t h e  p r o p e r t y  was 

purchased by him w i t h  h i s  own funds  and a l oan  from t h e  p l a i n t i f f  

company. Tha t  t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme a c t i n g  a s  a g e n t  f o r  t h e  p l a i n -  

t i f f  adv i s ed  him t h a t  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  company would advance t h e  d e p o s i t  

and g i v e  him a  mortgage and t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant  shou ld  p u t  

t h e  t i t l e  i n  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  name. 

The de fendan t  c l a ims  t h a t  it was ag reed  between h imse l f  and 

t h e  l a t e  Thomas Desulme a c t i n g  on beha l f  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t h a t  t h e  

company would advance t h e  d e p o s i t  and t h e  f i r s t  Defendant  would be 

g iven  a  housing a l lowance.  

H e  i s  c l a iming  t h a t  t h e  d e p o s i t  was r e p a i d  by means o f  t h e  

a p p l i c a t i o n  of t h e  housing a l lowance due t o  him. However t h e  p l a i n -  

t i f f ' s  r e c o r d s  d i s c l o s e  t h a t  no l oan  was e v e r  made t o  t h e  f i r s t  de fen-  

d a n t  f o r  t h e  purchase  of  t h e  p r o p e r t y ,  n e i t h e r  was any such  l o a n  

r e p a i d  t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f .  The p l a i n t i f f ' s  r e c o r d s  show t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  

de fendan t  occupied a'company owned house and was t r e a t e d  a s  r e c e i v i n g  

a  t a x a b l e  emolument and income t a x  was p a i d  on t h i s  b a s i s .  

I a g r e e  w i t h  M r .  Hylton Q.C., t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendan t ' s  conten-  

t i o n  t h a t  he poss,essed an  e q u i t a b l e  i n t e r e s t  in t h e  p r o p e r t y  i s  

p a t e n t l y  f a l s e .  

The e x p l a n a t i o n  g iven  t o  t h e  d a t e  o f  t h e  In s t rumen t  i s  t h a t  i n  

o r  abou t  December, 1986, t h e  company execu ted  an  In s t rumen t  o f  Trans-  

f e r  o f  t h e  s a i d  p r o p e r t y  t o  t h e  f i r s t  de fendan t .  



The ~ n s t r u m e n t  was then  s igned bytwo d i r e c t o r s  one of  whom 
I 

was h i s  l a t e  f a t h e r .  Due t o  cash flow problem t h e  Ins t rument  was 

n o t  r e g i s t e r e d  then ,  The Ins t rument  was m i s l a i d .  I n  September, 

1993, a  new t r a n s f e r  was prepared and h i s  l a t e  f a t h e r  and M r .  Goodin 

s igned  on beha l f  of  t h e  p l a i n t i f f .  That  t h i s  w a s . t h e ~ t r a n s f e r  

u l t i m a t e l y  r e g i s t e r e d .  

However t h e  t r a n s f e r  r e g i s t e r e d  i n d i c a t e s  it was by way of  a  

g i f t .  l h e I n ~ t r u m e n t  o f  T rans fe r  shows t h a t  it was made on t h e  d a t e  

s e t  o u t  i n  I t e m  3  of  Schedule. The d a t e  a t  I t e m  3  i s  1 0 t h l A p r i l ,  
1 

1995 n o t  September, 1 9 9 3 .  

I n  Re King's  Se t t l emen t  (1931) 2  Ch. 294 it was h e l d  t h a t :  

" I f  a  g r a n t o r  conveys p rope r ty  i n  a  form 

a c t u a l l y  and a c t i v e l y  mis lead ing  s o  t h a t  

any persons  r ead ing  t h e  conveyance neces- 

s a r i l y  concludes  t h a t  t h e  g r a n t e e s  a r e . t h e  
I 

a b s o l u t e  owners, t h e  g r a n t o r  cannot  subse- 

quen t ly  be heard t o  s a y  t h a t  t h i s  i s  n o t  

t h e  r e a l  t r a n s a c t i o n  b u t  t h a t  t h e  g r a n t e e s  
I t a k e  on a  s e c r e t  t r u s t  n o t  d i s c l o s e d  i n  t h e  

I conveyance. I' 
I 

I n  Toepfer  v. C r e m e r  (1975) 2 ~ l o y d ' s  Rep. 118 a t  p.125 Lord 

Denning s t a t e s :  

"When one person h a s  l e d  another  t o  b e l i e v e  

t h a t  a  p a r t i c u l a r  t r a n s a c t i o n  i s  v a l i d  and 

c o r r e c t ,  he  cannot t h e r e a f t e r  be al lowed t o  

s ay  t h a t  it is  i n v a l i d  o r  i n c o r r e c t  where 

it would be u n f a i r  o r  u n j u s t  t o  a l low him t o  

do so .  I t  i s  a  k ind  o f  e s t o p p e l .  H e  cannot  

blow h o t  and co ld  according a s  it s u i t s  h i s  

book. So i n  t h i s  c a s e  s e e i n g  t h a t  t h e  s e l l e r s  

p u t  forward t h e  n o t i c e  a s  v a l i d  f o r  t h e i r  own 

purposes - and induced t h e  buyer t o  a c c e p t  

it a s  v a l i d  - they  cannot now t u r n  around and 

say  it i s  i n v a l i d . "  

I ag ree  e n t i r e l y  w i t h  M r .  Hylton Q.C. ,  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant 

cannot  now be heard  t o  say  t h a t  t h e  t r u e  reason  f o r  which t h e  

p rope r ty 'was  t r a n s f e r r e d  and t h e  c o n s i d e r a t i o n  given f o r  such t r a n s f e r  

were o therwise  than  a s  he  s t a t e d  i n  t h e  Ins t rument  o f  T r a n s f e r ,  t h e  

terms of which he acknowledged and a s s e r t e d  a s  t r u e  i n  s i g n i n g  

and lodging same wi th  t h e  o f f i c e  of  t h e  R e g i s t r a r  o f  T i t l e s  and 

caus ing  t h e  R e g i s t r a r  thereby  t o  e f f e c t  changes i n  t h e  R e g i s t e r .  

What is s t a t e d  Ion t h e  r e g i s t r a t i o n  of t h e  t r a n s f e r  must be 



t aken  as d e p i c t i n g  $he t r u e  n a t u r e  of t h e  t r a n s f e r  which it purpor ted  

t o  e f f e c t .  
I 

A s (  s a i d  be fo re  t h e  f i r s t  defendant  contends  t h a t  t h e  d a t e  o f  
I 

t h e  T rans fe r  a s  s t a t e d  i n  t h e  document was n o t  t h e  t r u e  d a t e  of  

execut ion ,  t h e  former being a d a t e  long a f t e r  M r .  Thomas Desulme 

whose purpor ted  s i g n a t u r e  t h e  ins t rument  b e a r s  had d i ed .  

I n  t h i s  r ega rd  M r .  Hylton Q.C., i n  my view, c o r r e c t l y  submit ted 

t h a t  , t he  on ly  purpose' t h a t  such ,.an i n c o r r e c t  d a t e  could  s e r v e  would be 

t o  p e r p e t r a t e  a f r aud  upon t h e  revenue and thereby  avoid t h e  payment o f  

c o r r e c t  stamp duty  and t r a n s f e r  t a x  which would be payable  on transaction. 

The Defendant contends  t h a t  M r .  Thomas Desulme s igned  t h e  

I Trans fe r .  There i s  s u b s t a n t i a l  evidence on beha l f  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  

t h a t  t h e  s i g n a t u r e  on t h e  T rans fe r  i s  n o t  t h a t  o f  t h e  l a t e  Thomas 

Desulme. The Defendant does  n o t  d i s p u t e  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  M r .  Thomas 

Desulme d i e d  i n  #1993. The Defendant has  n o t  s e r i o u s l y  a t tempted  t o  

e x p l a i n  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  t h e  T rans fe r  was made i n  A p r i l ,  1995. I ag ree  
I 

wi th  Counsel f o r  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t h a t  t h e r e  a r e  on ly  two a l t e r n a t i v e s :  

(i) t h a t  t h e  document was r e a l l y  s igned  
i n  1995, i f  t h a t  i s  s o ,  M r .  Thomas 
Desulme's s i g n a t u r e  was c l e a r l y  
forged and t h e  t r a n s a c t i o n  must be 
set a s i d e  o r ;  

(ii) t h a t  t h e  document was si'gned i n  1993 
i n ' w h i c h  c a s e  t h e  Defendant would have 

I p e r p e t r a t e d  a f r aud  on t h e  revenue and 
should1 noit: be ;  alclowed t o  l e a d  evidence 
t o  r e l y  on t h a t  f r aud .  

r' 
I n  D o e  d. Bryan v. Banks (supra) a t  p. 987 t h e  c o u r t  he ld :  

"Besides I t ake  it t o  be an u n i v e r s a l  
p r i n c i p l e  of  law and j u s t i c e ,  t h a t  no 
man can t a k e  advantage of  h i s  own wrong. 
Now it would be i n c o n s i s t e n t  w i t h  t h a t  
p r i n c i p l e ,  t o  permi t  t h e  defendant  t o  

I p r o t e c t  himself  a g a i n s t  t h e  consequences 
of  t h i s  a c t i o n ,  by a f t e rwards  s e t t i n g  up 
h i s  own wrongful a c t  a t  a former pe r iod . "  

I 
The c o u r t  cannot  avoid t h e  observati.cn t h a t  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  

I 

a , l l e g a t i o n s  and t h e  t r a n s f e r  of t h e  p rope r ty  were made a f t e r  h i s  

I C? f a t h e r  I s  dea th .  

The Defendant has  no contemporaneous documentary evidence t o  

suppor t  h i s  defence.  He makes t h e s e  c la ims  when h i s  f a t h e r  i s  n o t  
I 

around t o  deny them. H i s  defence t o  s ay  t h e  l e a s t ,  l a c k s  p l a u s i b i l i t y .  
I 

I I n  my view t h e  Defendant has  f a i l e d  t o  show t h a t  he has  a 

good defence  t o  t h i s  a c t i o n  on t h e  merits. 



He has  a l s o  f a i l e d  t o  d i s c l o s e  any f a c t  a s  may be  deemed 

' s u f f i c i e n t  t o  e n t i t l e  him t o  defend t h e  a c t i o n  g e n e r a l l y .  

There should  be summary judgment f o r  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  i n  t h e  
I 

fo l lowing  t e r m s :  

( a )  A D e c l a r a t i o n  a g a i n s t  t h e  F i r s t  and 

Second Defendants  t h a t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  

i s  t h e  b e n e f i c i a l  owner o f  p r o p e r t i e s  

known a s  8 Upper Carmel Way and be ing  

t h e  l a n d  comprised i n  C e r t i f i c a t e s  of  

T i t l e  r e g i s t e r e d  a t  Volume 1188 F o l i o  

20 and Volume 1193 F o l i o  600 o f  t h e  

R e g i s t e r  Book of  T i t l e s .  

(b) Agains t  t h e  F i r s t  Defendant  

(i) An Order t h a t  w i t h i n  f o u r t e e n  

( 1 4 )  days of be ing  r e q u e s t e d  t o  

do s o ,  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant do 

execu te  a t r a n s f e r  t o  t h e  P l a i n -  

t i f f  o r  t o  i t s  o r d e r  o f  p r o p e r t i e s  

I c o m p r i s e d i n C e r t i f i c a t e s o f  T i t l e  

I r e g i s t e r e d  a t  Volume 1188 F o l i o  20 
l 

and Volume 1193 F o l i o  6 0 0  o f  t h e  

R e g i s t e r  Book o f  T i t l e s .  

(ii) An Order t h a t  t h e  R e g i s t r a r  of  t h e  

Supreme Cour t  do execu t e  t h e  s a i d  

t r a n s f e r  i f  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant  

f a i l s  t o  do so .  

(iii) An Order t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant  

pay t h e  c o s t s  of  t r a n s f e r r i n g  t h e  

s a i d  p r o p e r t i e s .  

( i v )  An Order t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  Defendant  

f o r t h w i t h  d e l i v e r  up p o s s e s s i o n  o f  

t h e  s a i d  p r o p e r t i e s  t o  t h e  P l a i n t i f f .  

( v )  Cos t s  t o  be t axed  o r  agreed .  

(c) Agains t  t h e  F i r s t  Defendant  f o r :  

i The sums of  $11,386,340.00; $1,765,750.00 

and'$245,360.00 a s  moneys had and 

r ece ived  and damages t o  be a s s e s s e d .  

(ii) An account  i n  r e s p e c t  o f  any p r o f i t  

( d e r i v e d  d i r e c t l y  o r  i n d i r e c t l y  a s  a  

r e s u l t  of h i s  b reach  o f  f i d u c i a r y  d u t y .  

(iii)' I n t e r e s t  p u r s u a n t  t o  t h e  Law Reform 

i (Miscel laneous  P r o v i s i o n s )  Act .  




